IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHESTERFIELD COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2024-000461

The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Feb 14 2025

SC Court of Appeals

State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Michael Lamont WattsAppellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, SC 29204
elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com
(803) 445-1333

Counsel for Appellant

Other Counsel:
J. Anthony Mabry
SC Attorney General’s Office
PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3372

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court erred by denying Watts's motion for a new trial because the evidence produced at the hearing showed the State withheld material exculpatory and impeaching evidence from the defense which, had it been timely produced to counsel and used at trial, would have undermined Watts's conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael Lamont Watts was indicted by the Chesterfield County Grand Jury during its May 2005 term for murder (2005-GS-13-0471), two counts of assault and battery with intent to kill (2005-GS-13-0473, -0474), possession of a firearm in a public building (2005-GS-13-0477), discharging a firearm into a building (2005-GS-13-0476), and escape (2005-GS-13-0477) and at the April 2006 term for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2006-GS-13-0499). He was represented by James P. Rogers, who is now deceased.

At trial, two charges were dismissed by way of directed verdict (one count of ABWIK and possession of a firearm in a public building). He was found guilty of the remaining charges and the Honorable Paul M. Burch imposed a life sentence for murder, 20 years for ABWIK, 10 years for discharging a firearm into a building, and one year for escape. He also received a five-year sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of violent crime.

Watts filed a timely notice of appeal and his appeal was dismissed by the South Carolina Court of Appeals. *State v. Watts*, Op. No. 2010-UP-019 (S.C. App. filed January 25, 2010).

Watts then timely filed an application for post-conviction relief on July 2, 2010. An evidentiary hearing was held on July 16, 2013 at the Darlington County courthouse. Watts was represented by Tara D. Shurling. On October 23, 2013, the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr.

dismissed the application. After appeal, the South Carolina Supreme Court denied certiorari on February 19, 2015.

Undersigned counsel filed a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence on June 3, 2022. A hearing was held before Judge Burch on April 26, 2023. Judge Burch denied the motion on March 11, 2024.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred by denying Watts’s motion for a new trial because the evidence produced at the hearing showed the State withheld material exculpatory and impeaching evidence from the defense which, had it been timely produced to counsel and used at trial, would have undermined Watts’s conviction.

Relevant Facts

From July 30 through August 1, 2007, Michael Lamont Watts was tried by a Chesterfield County, South Carolina jury in front of the Honorable Paul M. Burch. At the conclusion of the three-day trial, he was convicted of escape (05-GS-13-0477), discharging firearms into an occupied building (05-GS-13-0476), assault and battery with the intent to kill (“ABWIK”) of David Evans (05-GS-13-0473), murder of Clifton Funderburk, Jr. (05-GS-13-0471), and possession of a weapon during the commission of certain crimes (05-GS-13-0499).¹ ROA 412-414. He was sentenced to life without parole for the murder conviction, with additional concurrent terms imposed as to the remaining charges. ROA 418-419.

¹ Two other indictments for ABWIK (05-GS-13-0474) as to Jeffrey Crowder and firearms in a public building (05-GS-13-0475) were dismissed at the close of the prosecution’s case upon the defense’s motion for a directed verdict. ROA 273, 276.

These indictments arose from a November 28, 2004 shooting at Matrix, a bar or club located in Pageland, South Carolina. ROA 40. The shooting was precipitated by an altercation which arose in the club and, during the course of the dispute, Funderburk was fatally shot in the torso; Evans and Crowder also suffered nonfatal gunshot wounds. ROA 39-40, 405.

The State contended the fatal and injurious shots were discharged from a firearm in Watts' control. ROA 40. Conversely, Watts contended there were multiple shooters within the club, any of whom could have caused such harms. ROA 43-45. The arguments of counsel, as well as the evidence introduced at trial, are summarized below.

At trial, the State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Franklin Joyner and Kevin Hales.² ROA 3. As indicated above, their version of the case was that, in the midst of the argument that arose in the club, Watts exited the club, obtained a firearm from his vehicle, and then returned to the club and discharged the weapon, striking the three men, causing Funderburk's death and nonfatally shooting the other two. ROA 40, 42, 377, 378-381.

The prosecution was adamant that Watts was the only shooter in the club. ROA 369, 380. In support of its theory, the State argued that the lack of certain evidence amounted to its absolute non-existence, regardless of cause for its absence (*e.g.*, there were no photographs of bullet holes in the wall, meaning there could not have been bullet holes in the wall; people heard but did not see gunfire from a second source). ROA 369-370, 380. Assistant Solicitor Joyner also argued that, because Watts was not, himself, shot, it necessarily could not have been "so dangerous for him that

² These are the same two prosecutors who were found to have committed prosecutorial misconduct by the South Carolina Supreme Court in another Chesterfield County case. *Fortune v. State*, 428 S.C. 545, 837 S.E.2d 37 (2019). Fortune's conviction was reversed by the Court based on this misconduct.

he had to shoot a gun,” and on that basis, claimed his lack of injury was necessarily directly correlated to the lack of presence of another shooter. ROA 380.

It also focused heavily on Watts’ mindset at the times he discharged his weapon. ROA 344-346, 377-379. Specifically, the State claimed Watts intended to kill Funderburk – and others – arguing the requisite mindset “clearly existed” based upon the fact that Watts: (1) went to the car and obtained the gun, (2) came back inside with the gun, (3) the gun was cocked, meaning it was “ready to shoot,” (3) he discharged the firearm, and (4) there was no “cause” or “reason” for doing so, based on what they described as Funderburk’s “100 percent innocen[ce]” and Evans not possessing a gun himself. ROA 377-380.

Assistant Solicitor Joyner also claimed Watts’ admissions to bringing a cocked firearm into the club and discharging it alone amounted to an admission to guilt as to the charged counts of murder and ABWIK. ROA 379.

The State further drew attention to the importance that the jury conduct a credibility assessment of the parties’ cases, with a focus on the points of “corroboration” and “expert testimony,” specifically pointing out the number of witnesses it presented. ROA 41, 366-367, 370-372. It also advised the jury to use its “common sense” and think “logically,” while also telling them that it was not their place to “search for reasonable doubt,” but rather to “search for the truth,” which it claimed to be that Watts murdered Funderburk and intended to kill others. ROA 377, 380-381.

In support of its version of events, the State first called several percipient witnesses to the shooting – David Evans (also one of the complainants) (ROA 45-77), Latoya Miller³ (ROA 79-93), Tyrone Miller (ROA 93-102), Charles Miller (ROA 103-116), Kevin Johnson (ROA 128-143), Dewayne Miller (ROA 143-155), Angelo Mason (ROA 155-166), Tameka Austin (ROA 166-169), Michael Tresdale (ROA 179-185), and Detective Larry Brown (ROA 185-230). These witnesses presented varied versions of events, but each agreeing an altercation occurred, followed by a shooting.

One of these eyewitnesses, Tyrone Miller, had a federal plea agreement which provided for a reduction in sentence in exchange for assisting the prosecution, but he denied knowing anything about a reduction based on his testimony in state court and further denied testifying for that purpose. ROA 232.

Austin and Tresdale were the only percipient witness with prior remote familiarity with Watts, and Dewayne testified to being incarcerated with him in the county jail – *i.e.*, while Watts was awaiting trial on the charges at issue – after the fact. ROA 168, 129, 151-153, 181-182.

Testimony was also provided by Investigator Bennett, who took Watts' statement. ROA 172-179; *see also* ROA 558. He found Watts to be “cooperative” and “forthright” with him. ROA 177. Further, Detective Brown testified not only as an eyewitness, but also as the “main case investigator.” ROA 219.

³ Multiple witnesses for the State have the same surname, *i.e.*, Miller. ROA 79-93 (Testimony of Latoya Miller), 93-102 and 231-233 (Testimony of Tyrone Miller), 103-118 (Testimony of Charles Miller), and 143-155 (Testimony of Dewayne Miller). For the sake of clarity, they are referred to by their first names. No disrespect is intended.

Moreover, expert testimony was elicited from Agent Jennifer Stoner from the Trace Evidence Division of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division testified to the gunshot residue (GSR) testing she did – and did not – perform. ROA 235-244. Similarly, Agent Frank Dan Defreese testified as a firearms identification expert. ROA 244-255. Finally, Dr. Janice Ross testified to completing the autopsy on Funderburk and detailed her findings for the jury. ROA 261-270.

The Initial Altercation

Latoya, Tyrone, Johnson, and Austin testified that they witnessed a fight in the club on the night in question. ROA 80, 91, 95, 128-129, 133-134, 135-137, 139-140, 167-168. Tyrone testified that his cousins, Charles and Johnson, were involved. ROA 95-96. Austin reported seeing Dwayne and Watts involved, as well. ROA 167-168.

Charles confirmed his involvement and admitted to believing he hit Watts, though he believed Watts hit him first. ROA 105-107, 113-114. Johnson, however, testified to Watts being not an intervenor, but rather the initial instigator of the fight, however he stated it was instead Dewayne that first hit Watts. ROA 137-139. He also testified to seeing Watts swing, though his initial statement did not include such an allegation. ROA 138. Dewayne denied this was an accurate portrayal of events, stating himself and “some little black guy” he did not know were the initial parties involved in the disagreement, and Watts attempted to intervene; he did, however, claim Watts swung on him and Charles first. ROA 143-146, 154. Dewayne admitted to reciprocating, and then fighting with Watts, though he never reported fight to the investigating officer. ROA 146, 148-151.

Evans denied witnessing the altercation, but reported witnessing its aftermath, which included Watts being at the bar with two females, appearing “intoxicated.” ROA 46-48, 57. Mason,

who was working security at the front door of the Matrix that night, also did not witness the fight but did intervene after the fact, breaking it up. ROA 156-157, 159-160. Likewise, Tresdale, the co-owner of the Matrix, also did not see the fight but was aware it occurred. ROA 180-182. Critically to this motion for a new trial, Detective Larry Brown was also moonlighting as a security guard at the Matrix on the night of the shooting and saw the end of the fight only, as it was being broken up. ROA 186-189, 191.

Mason, Tresdale and Detective Brown each identified one of the men involved as Watts. ROA 157, 181, 188-189, 191. Detective Brown also identified “Shawn Demorris” and/or “Rashad” and/or Simpson being involved. ROA 188-189, 191.

The Events Leading Up to the Shooting

Tresdale and Detective Brown each reported seeing Watts obtain a gun from a vehicle and “cock” it, and then reentering the club. ROA 182, 191-192, 201-202, 211. Johnson also testified he witnessed Watts pull the gun out of the car, but he went back and forth regarding whether he saw him reenter the club, first, saying Watts “shot the door and came in shooting,” then he said he “didn’t see him physically come through the door.” ROA 130-132, 135-136, 142.

Evans and Latoya each offered testimony to seeing Watts in possession of a firearm and he described it and identified the State’s Exhibit 3 as “similar” to the one he saw in Watts’ possession. ROA 48-49, 62-65, 80-82, 85, 91-92. Evans recalled it being unconcealed and pointed “down.” ROA 65-66. Tyrone, Charles, Johnson, Dewayne, and Mason similarly described the firearm and the fact of it being in Watts’ possession. ROA 97, 107-108, 114-116, 129, 131, 133-136, 143, 147, 155, 158. However, Charles was unsure if Exhibit 3 was the same firearm he had seen (ROA 116) and Austin never saw Watts with a gun (ROA 170).

When interviewed by Investigator Bennett, Watts admitted to retrieving a firearm and bringing it back into the club “to get [his] buddies out of the club.” ROA 177. Watts similarly told Detective Brown, “I remember getting the gun, going in to get my boys, but I don’t remember shooting anybody. I thought I was shooting in the air.” ROA 197.

Prior to the shooting, Tyrone and Dewayne testified to Watts pointing the firearm in Tyrone’s face and asking, “who hit him.” ROA 96-97, 147. Johnson also initially told Agent Anderson that he witnessed this occur, but on cross-examination he said he never witnessed it and had just repeated what Tyrone told him occurred. ROA 131, 135-137.

Evans, Latoya, Johnson, and Tresdale, each testified they did not see anyone else with a gun that night. ROA 74-75, 82, 84, 92, 135, 141, 143, 185. Mason also testified he did not see another person in possession of a firearm, but also admitted he did not look for another one or see anyone else doing so. ROA 159, 166. Conversely, Charles reported seeing a big, dark-skinned guy that was kind of heavy set” in possession of a “shotgun” at the club. ROA 109-110, 115. This allegation was not investigated by officers. ROA 221.

The Shooting in the Club

Evans testified to witnessing Watts discharge the firearm inside the club, saying he did so after looking around and mumbling something to himself, and raising the gun up sideways. ROA 49-51, 65-69, 74. Evans reported that Watts, “fired one shot” which struck Funderburk, who he hit the wall, slid down and onto the floor, moved for several moments and then stopped. ROA 49-51, 65-69, 74. Evans identified State’s Exhibit 2 as being a photograph of the decedent. ROA 55-57, 559-560.

Latoya wavered back and forth between testifying to seeing the gun being discharged between one and three times, and only hearing it being discharged. ROA 80-82, 85-86, 91-92. In her initial statement to police, she also reported hearing a “clicking” noise, which she initially omitted from her testimony, but affirmed as accurate when her memory was refreshed by counsel. ROA 86-88, 92. She admitted to not seeing who fired the shots at issue. ROA 93.

Charles was similarly inconsistent, saying he saw Watts shoot and “fire come out of the barrel,” but then saying he only heard the three shots. ROA 107-108, 113-115, 122. Johnson also first said he did not see the shooting occur and assumed it to be Watts because he did not see anyone else with a firearm that night (ROA 135, 141, 142-143), however he later said he saw Watts “kind of turn” before he “shot off some more rounds” (ROA 132); he did not see Funderburk get shot and was adamant that he heard “more than two” shots. ROA 134-135, 140-142.

Tyrone did not see Watts discharge the firearm; he was in the bathroom. ROA 96-97, 101. He did, however, hear a firearm discharge between three and five times. ROA 96-97, 101. Dewayne was behind the bar and then in the kitchen of the club when he reported also hearing – but not seeing – a single gunshot, a pause, and then two more gunshots, for a total of “three shots.” ROA 147-148, 153-154. Mason also reported not seeing, but hearing, a single initial gunshot, which he did not recognize to be as much until a patron told him someone had a gun. ROA 158, 160-162. Similarly, Austin heard a “series of shots,” estimated to be between two and seven, but did not see the source of the gunfire. ROA 168-170. Tresdale also did not see anyone discharge a weapon, but heard “three, four or five” gunshots from his position of cover in the store across the street. ROA 182-185.

Latoya first told investigators that she was initially unaware that Funderburk had been shot, and only found out when she returned to the club. ROA 92. However, at trial, she reported that she knew right away that he had been shot, because she “turned around and he fell on the floor,” but she was pushed out the door and had to come back in to find him. ROA 82-83, 88-89, 92.

The Shooting Outside of the Club

After this shooting in the club, Evans reported he ran into Watts outside, who accused him of swinging on him, before Watts “raised his weapon and fired four or five times,” striking the ground, and then shooting the glass out of the door, which thereafter struck Evans in his right leg; he showed the jury his injured leg. ROA 49-51, 65-72, 74. He described being at the “threshold” of the building when shot – both inside and outside – though this contradicted his medical records, which stated he was shot inside of the club, a statement Evans did not recollect making. ROA 72-73, 75-76. Evans injuries were treated the same night and he was discharged to return home. ROA 53, 72-73.

Johnson also testified that he was “grazed” or “burnt” in his “lower right leg” by a shot discharged in the club. ROA 133, 141-142. He reported receiving medical attention from an ambulance on the side of the club. ROA 133, 141-142.

Mason reported hearing firing of the weapon resume an unknown number of times and seeing Watts approaching the exit of the club. ROA 157-159. However, he faltered back and forth between saying Watts arrived at the exit of the club with an already emptied firearm and claiming that he personally witnessed Watts fire the weapon as he was approaching the door, “walking backwards out the club.” ROA 158, 162-164. He was also conflicted regarding when the shooting

stopped – either before he approached the exit, as noted above, as compared to while Watts was “right at the front door,” or not “until he got outside.” ROA 158, 162-164. He also described Watts shooting the “glass out” and the bottom of the door. ROA 163-164. He offered his opinion that Watts was shooting at, “another person inside,” whom he assumed to be Evans, and denied it was possible Watts was shooting as a warning or for another reason. ROA 163.

Detective Larry Brown also stated he saw Watts shooting “about four times” outside of the club, “swinging the gun,” in “a wild state,” and disobeying police orders, resulting in a bullet breaking the glass door. ROA 193-194,197, 211-213. He did not believe he was shooting at anyone in particular, just “firing at anybody.” ROA 213-214.

Watts’s Apprehension, Alleged Attempted Escape and Post-Apprehension Events

Detective Larry Brown reports Watts was being “covered” by two of his friends, in an attempt to prevent his apprehension; they made it to the car, where they were thereafter apprehended and handcuffed, and the gun was retrieved from inside the vehicle. ROA 194.

Evans further reported witnessing Watts being apprehended and then handcuffed, and that, during that time, reports of further shooting were made, though he did not hear any more shooting. ROA 52, 67, 74-75. Latoya first stated she did not see or hear anything else while outside, but later testified to hearing “maybe two more” shots. ROA 83, 86. Johnson, Austin, Mason and Detective Brown each reported they did not hear any further shots. ROA 132-133, 141, 165-166, 170, 194, 215. Detective Larry Brown was more adamant than anyone that he did not see or hear a second shooting, calling those who claimed otherwise confusing a car backfiring with gunfire. ROA 194-195, 210, 215-217, 219-221. Because he disbelieved their contentions, he “did not search any of the

patrons of the club” nor stop, detain or question them, because he felt he “didn’t see a need to” do so. ROA 217, 219-220.

During the reports of additional shooting, Evans reportedly witnessed Watts running while handcuffed, causing Evans to “tackle” Watts. ROA 52-53.

Latoya testified to reentering the club post-shooting to look for the people she was there with and described having no trouble gaining access to the club after the shooting, as it had not been secured even ten minutes later. ROA 89.

The Investigation

Detective Larry Brown detailed the investigation he conducted, describing learning Funderburk was shot, but being unable to secure the crime scene until after detaining the individuals outside and clearing the parking lot. ROA 195, 217-218.

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