**RECEIVED**

**Mar 25 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Chesterfield County  
The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

MICHAEL LAMONT WATTS,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2024-000461

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 11973

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.

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

## ARGUMENT

**Judge Burch did not abuse his discretion in denying the Rule 29, SCRCrim.P. motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence, where the motion was untimely, the State did not commit a Brady violation in failing to disclose a letter from a police officer's employment file, the letter was not material, was at most cumulative or impeaching, would not have changed the result where there was overwhelming evidence of Watts' guilt, and does not undermine confidence in the verdict.**

### *What occurred below*

On June 3, 2022, through retained counsel Elizabeth Franklin-Best, Watts filed a *motion for a new trial* based on after-discovered evidence in the Circuit Court of General Sessions. Watts had retained a private investigator, Brian Setree, in 2021 who made a Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request on October 13, 2021, on the City of Pageland, S.C. for the employee personnel file of Sergeant/Investigator Larry Brown. As previously stated, Brown was a witness in this case, arrested Watts at the scene, and became the chief investigator. The response to the FOIA request was received on November 6, 2021. As part of the response, Setree received a letter dated December 4, 2004, from the Pageland Chief of Police to Sargeant/Investigator Brown. It stated as follows:

Dear Sgt. Brown:

This conversation shall confirm a conversation we had on **December 02** (emphasis in original), regarding the Matrix Club on E. McGregor Street.

I had addressed an issue of you working private security at that location without my authorization or knowledge which was in violation of department policy. You in turn advised me that you had informed me of such which I disagreed. At that point you ask [sic] me didn't I remember you telling me a couple of weeks back that the week after second and third shift worked the club until it closed on a Saturday night that you were going to help them out at the Matrix this weekend. This is when I responded that I did remember that but I thought that you meant that you were going to help second and third shift again as you had several weeks ago.

With the above being clarified, we will close with the topic of the rest of our conversation. You will do no security work at the Matrix in the future. There

are liability issues on your part and the Town's part in which both parties could be potential losers and the business not lose a thing.

Be reminded that the department policy with regard to off duty employment will be follows [sic].

Respectfully,  
John W. Sowell, Jr.  
Chief.

(Defense Ex. 1, April 26, 2023 hearing, p. 538).

At the hearing on the Rule 29(b) motion, Watts argued that this letter had never been provided to the defense, and if it had, it would have been used by defense counsel to challenge the investigation of the case and would have undermined the jury's faith in the investigation that resulted in Watts' arrest, and as a result Watts was entitled to a new trial. (BOA, p. 66 & April 26, 2023 R. 531-52).<sup>1</sup> Watts conceded he was not alleging the State intentionally suppressed the letter or acted in bad faith, but that the letter was imputed to the State and was not disclosed. (April 26, 2023 R. 541, ll. 13-25). The Solicitor responded that the State never had the letter; if it had the letter, the State turned it over; and, the letter itself revealed there was a simple misunderstanding or a difference of opinion between the Chief and Sgt. Brown whether he could work off duty at the establishment on the night in question as Sgt. Brown specifically told the Chief he was working that evening but the Chief thought Brown meant something different. (Defense Ex. 1, April 26, 2023 R. 531-52). Regardless, the letter was not material based on all of the evidence of Watts' guilt introduced at trial and would not have changed the outcome even if the letter was introduced. (April 26, 2023, R. 531-52). Judge Burch stated he intended to review all of the materials regarding the case and this issue and asked both sides to submit proposed orders. (April 26, 2023, R. 551). On March 11, 2024, Judge Burch denied the motion for a new trial by written Order.

---

<sup>1</sup> At the hearing on the Motion for a New Trial, Watts also introduced other materials from Sgt. Brown's file. He has abandoned those matters on appeal and now argues only the letter as a basis for a new trial. (April, 26, 2023 R. 531-52; IBOA).

(Order, March 11, 2024). Watts now appeals Judge Burch's denial of his Rule 29(b), SCRCrim.P. motion for a new trial arguing 2 basis for the grant of a new trial based on the letter discussed above: (1) a Brady<sup>2</sup> violation, and (2) after-discovered evidence.

### *Standard of Review*

Generally, the appellate courts of this State do not look with favor upon applications for a new trial based on after discovered evidence; however, there are obviously cases where such motions should be entertained and granted in order that wrongs done be remedied. State v. Irvin, 270 S.C. 539, 243 S.E.2d 195 (1978); State v. Pierce, 263 S.C. 23, 207 S.E.2d 414 (1974); State v. DeAngelis, 256 S.C. 364, 182 S.E.2d (1971); State v. Jones, 89 S.C. 41, 71 S.E. 291 (1911); State v. Rhodes, 44 S.C. 325, 327, 21 S.E. 807 (1895). As with most motions, a motion for a new trial is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Johnson, 187 S.C. 439, 198 S.E. 1 (1938). An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. State v. Smith, 372 S.C. 404, 642 S.E.2d 627 (Ct. App. 2007). The question whether the trial court's discretion was erroneously exercised in denying a motion for a new trial on the ground of after-discovered evidence, must be determined, not only on the testimony heard on the motion, but also on the testimony introduced at the trial. State v. Bigham, 123 S.C. 411, 117 S.E. 57 (1923). In a motion for a new trial based upon after discovered evidence, it is the circuit judge, as a matter of law, that determines all of the issues of fact. Unless his findings of fact were influenced or controlled by error of law, or unless his conclusion based thereon was so illogical and unreasonable as to amount to a manifest abuse of discretion, his action is final and may not be overruled by the appellate court. Bigham, 123 S.C. 411, 117 S.E. 57. The credibility of newly discovered evidence offered in support of a motion for a new trial is a matter for

---

<sup>2</sup> Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)

determination by the circuit judge, who has the power to weigh such evidence, and his judgment will not be disturbed except for error of law or abuse of discretion. State v. Corn, 224 S.C. 74, 77 S.E.2d 354 (1953). The determination of whether a Brady violation has occurred is also reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Durant, 430 S.C. 98, 110, 844 S.E.2d 449 (2020); State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 316, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (reviewing a Brady violation for an abuse of discretion).

### *Law/Analysis*

#### *The 29(b) Motion is Untimely*

Rule 29(b), SCRCrim.P., provides that a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence must be made within 1 year after the date of the actual discovery of the evidence or after the date when the evidence could have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence. As an additional sustaining ground, Respondent submits the motion below was untimely. This letter could have been obtained by due diligence long before 2021.

The letter in question was written in **December of 2004**. Watts was convicted in 2007. The letter was obtained in 2021, approximately 16 years after it was written. It was obtained with a simple FOIA request in 2021. It could have been obtained with a FOIA request or by subpoena long before 2021. It could have been obtained at any time after it was written including pre-trial by subpoena, FOIA request, or motion to the trial court for *in camera* examination of Brown's personnel file. In fact, Watts filed a PCR action on *July 2, 2010*, and could have obtained this letter by subpoena or FOIA request at that time, simply directing the same to the City of Pageland. But he failed to do so. This letter has been in Brown's personnel file since *December of 2004*. Respondent submits this Rule 29 motion is untimely and the appeal should be dismissed for this reason.

*As Judge Burch found, the new trial motion lacks merit*

*Was there a Brady violation?*

First, Watts alleges that the State committed a Brady violation by not providing the letter from Brown's employment file to him prior to trial. Watts is wrong.

Brady requires the prosecution to disclose exculpatory evidence or evidence favorable to a defendant including impeachment material. Id.; Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 438 (1995); (quoting Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972)). Brady has been expanded to include the duty that the prosecutor must ferret out information favorable to the defendant contained in the police investigative files. Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. at 438. Thus, in criminal prosecutions, the State must disclose to the accused any evidence that is favorable and "material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." Brady, 373 U.S. at 87. While this rule applies equally to exculpatory and impeachment evidence, *see* Giglio, 405 U.S. at 154, "the prosecutor is not required to deliver his entire file to defense counsel, but only to disclose evidence favorable to the accused that, if suppressed, would deprive the defendant of a fair trial United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 675 (1985) (citation omitted). Our Supreme Court has not required the prosecution to go on a fishing expedition to discover exculpatory or impeaching evidence. Durant, 430 S.C. at 109, 844 S.E.2d 449 (finding running an accurate rap sheet on State's witnesses hardly constituted a fishing expedition for exculpatory or impeachment evidence).

In order for this Court to find a Brady violation, Watts must establish that (1) the suppressed evidence is favorable to him, "either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching"; (2) was in the possession of or known to the prosecution; (3) the evidence was suppressed by the State, "either willfully or inadvertently"; and (4) that "prejudice \* \* \* ensued," i.e. it was material to guilt

or punishment. Kyles, 514 U.S. at 432-42; Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281-282 (1999); Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. at 87. Exculpatory or impeachment evidence is material only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Durant, *supra* (“Durant cannot demonstrate the evidence was material because there was not a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different.”); State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 241, 471 S.E.2d 689, 693 (1996) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019)(inference of malice from a deadly weapon is no longer valid). “[F]avorable evidence is material, and constitutional error results from its suppression by the government, only “if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Kyles, 514 U.S. at 433, quoting United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682, (1985). The defendant bears the burden of proving that a Brady violation rises to the level of a denial of due process. Id.

First, Respondent submits that this letter is not information that is “favorable” to Watts, i.e. exculpatory *or* impeachment evidence. Strickler, *supra* (the defendant must first show the evidence in question is favorable to him, “either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching”). There is nothing in the letter that is exculpatory to Watts, i.e. that shows Watts did not commit the crime, that Watts committed a lesser crime, or mitigates Watts’ punishment. Brady, *supra*. The letter deals solely with Sgt. Brown. (Def. Ex. 1, Motion Hearing). The letter is not impeaching either. The letter merely shows there was a misunderstanding between Brown and the Chief of Police about whether Brown was supposed to be working at the club that night for the club, but that in the future, Brown could not work at the club without violating department policy. The letter in no way criticizes Brown’s conduct of the investigation of the crimes Watts committed

but speaks in terms of liability exposure of Brown and the City of Pageland if Watts were to continue to work after hours at and for the Matrix nightclub. (Defendant's Ex. 1, April 26, 2023, Motion Hearing). There is nothing in the letter that goes to the truthfulness or veracity of Sgt. Brown. In fact, in the letter, the Chief admits Brown had told him he was going to be working security at the club on the night in question, but the Chief was confused about the nature of the work. (Def. Ex. 1, April 26 hearing). Nor does anything in the letter go to bias of Sgt. Brown. In fact, Sgt. Brown admitted at trial that he was off duty and working security for the club at the time of the incident. This Court has previously held alleged misconduct contained in a police officer's personnel or employment file, absent evidence of untruthfulness or bias, is inadmissible as impeachment evidence. State v. Davis, 438 S.C. 444, 884 S.E.2d 185 (Ct. App. 2022); State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 255-57, 74 S.E.2d 495 (Ct. App. 2013); State v. Burgess, 393 S.C. 396, 404-06, 712 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2011). As a result, Watts has not met his burden to prove the first element of a Brady violation. See State v. Lett, 222 N.E.3d 95 (Ohio Ct. App. 8th Dist. Cuyahoga County 2023)(Defendant failed to establish that detective's administrative sanction was impeaching of his credibility on cross-examination in defendant's trial for offenses including murder, kidnapping, and burglary, and thus, State's withholding of the information was not a Brady violation warranting postconviction relief for alleged denial of defendant's right to due process, where the incident was not clearly probative of detective's truthfulness or untruthfulness in defendant's case).

Second, Respondent submits that it is questionable whether Watts can prove the second or third elements of a Brady violation, i.e. the letter was in possession of or known by the prosecution and was suppressed by the prosecution, because this State has not extended the Brady requirement to employment or personnel files of a police officer absent a specific request by defense counsel

or knowledge of exculpatory or impeachment material in such a file by the prosecutor. In fact, there is a split of authority at both the state and federal level, whether the State has to search in or discover what is in an employment or personnel file of a police officer absent the State knowing of the information ahead of time.<sup>3</sup> See Jonathan Abel, Brady's Blind Spot: Impeachment Evidence in Police Personnel Files and the Battle Splitting the Prosecution Team, 67 Stan. L. Rev. 743, 770 (2015)(recognizing the split of authority). In Von Dohlen, the South Carolina Supreme Court held as follows;

We find no basis upon which to impute Consumer Affairs' suspicion to the solicitor's office. Although information known to investigative or prosecutorial agencies may, under certain circumstances, be imputable to the State, see United States v. Auten, 632 F.2d 478 (5th Cir.1980) (holding criminal records and convictions of its witnesses are imputable to government), the government has no “affirmative duty to take action to discover information which it does not possess.... The prosecutor has no duty to undertake a fishing expedition ... in an effort to find impeaching evidence.” United States v. Jones, 34 F.3d 596, 599 (8th Cir.1994). Those cases which find such knowledge imputable to the prosecutor involve prior convictions and/or pending charges against a witness. In contrast, the allegedly impeaching evidence in this case is Consumer Affairs' suspicion of possible alteration of documents, by an unknown individual, on which charges were never filed. We hold this information was not imputable to the solicitor's office.

Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. at 240–41, 471 S.E.2d at 693. Consistent with Von Dohlen, in State v. Durant, 430 S.C. 93, 844 S.E.2d 49 (2020), the Court held that criminal records of a prosecution witness contained in the NCIC database were in the possession of the State and required to be searched for and disclosed). Other case law has recognized the Solicitor here did not have a duty

---

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